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PREFACE TO THE THIRD EDITION.

THERE is no institution at the present
time in which a more general interest is
taken by Philadelphians than in the Uni-
versity of Pennsylvania. Through its
various schools and departments its in-
fluence is felt in the homes of thousands
of our citizens, and with each succeeding
year the sphere of that influence is being
extended throughout the State. The ac-
tivity which is always connected with the
organization of a new movement has made
the public familiar with the history of
those departments which have been lately
added to the University ; but of the history
of the parent school little has been written,
and that little is not of easy access to the
public. The first contribution in this line

* was the historical sketch written by the

late Dr. George B. Wood in 1827, and

printed in the third volume of the Memoirs
iii
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iv. PREFACE TO THE THIRD EDITION.

of The Historical Society of Pennsylvania
in 1834. It was subsequently included in
a volume of “ Historical and Biographical
Memoirs” by Dr. Wood, published in
1872. The next contributions of impor-
tance were a Memoir of the Rev. William
Smith, D.D., Provost of the College,
Academy, and Charitable School of Phila-
delphia, by Charles J. Stillé, in 1869 ; and,
in the same year, a History of the Med-
ical Department of the University of Penn-
sylvania, from its foundation to 1863, by
Joseph Carson, M.D. The information
contained in Dr. Stillé’s excellent memoir
was afterwards used, with additions, in a
Life of Dr. Smith by his great-grandson,
Horace W. Smith, two volumes, octavo,
1879-1880.

Some of these works have been long
out of print, and the remnants of the
editions of others have been virtually
withdrawn from the channels of trade.
In 1893, a bulky pamphlet, containing the
history of the University and of its several
departments, written by many hands and
edited by Dr. Francis Newton Thorpe,
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was issued by the government as one of
the publications of the Bureau of Educa-
tion, under the title of “ Benjamin Frank-
lin and the University of Pennsylvania.”
But it was attended with the fatality com-
mon to many of the publications of the
government which are classed as Public
Documents and are obtainable only
through an application to a department
or to a member of Congress. Under
these circumstances, an alumnus of the
University, who takes an interest in its
history and who feels that such is the
case with many of its graduates, requested
the editor to prepare for publication at his
expense a new edition of Dr. Wood'’s
History, adding thereto such information
regarding the foundation of the institution
as has come to light since the History
was written. With the permission of the
representatives of Dr. Wood, this has been
done; and, as no attempt has been made
to bring the history down beyond the time
when Dr. Wood closed his labours, the
title of his work has been changed to read,
“The Early History of the University.”
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The last six chapters of the book are
by the present writer, and he alone is re-
sponsible for the views expressed in them.
He cannot but feel that Chapter XV. will
appear to many unnecessarily long, and
that its style is too controversial to be in
harmony with that of other portions of the
book. The subject, however,—the very
origin of the University,—was of such a
character that it could not be treated other-
wise, and its importance he hopes will be
found to justify the length.

Portraits of the early benefactors and
professors of the University, together with
fac-similes of documents connected with
its history, have been added to the present
edition; and the editor wishes to express
to Messrs. Harper and Brothers his thanks
for the use of the electrotype of the min-
iature of Franklin which will be found in

the volume.
F. D. StonE.
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PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION.

THE author of the following sketch,
having been appointed to deliver the an-
niversary address before the Philomathean
Society of the University of Pennsylvania,
in the year 1826, was induced to make
some investigations into the history of
that institution, the results of which were
stated, in general terms, on the occasion
referred to. In the course of his inquiries,
numerous facts presented themselves,
which, though not sufficiently important
to claim a place in a brief address, ap-
peared to him too much so to be passed
over with neglect; and the idea occurred
to him, that a history of the University,
for the preparation of which he possessed
some materials, was due to the relation in
which the Institution was placed to the
State and city, and might prove interest-
ing, if not serviceable to the community.

/} 1 vil



viii PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION.

. He accordingly extended his researches,
and having accumulated such additional
facts and information as appeared essential
to the purpose, drew up the following
account of the school, and presented it
to the Historical Society, as a body pecu-
liarly interested in whatever concerns the
past or present affairs of Pennsylvania,
and one to whose judgment he was de-
sirous of submitting the question of publi-
cation. It is proper to state that, in the
collection of his materials, the author had
access to the Minutes of the University
from its origin, in the form of an Academy,
in 1749, to the period at which the history
closes. His other sources of information
were the works of Dr. Franklin and Dr.
William Smith, the periodical journals and
newspapers, the public documents of the
State, and oral or written communications
from gentlemen connected with the school.
The reader is requested to bear in mind,
that the following historical sketch was
prepared in the early part of the year
1827; as otherwise he might be led into
error, by considering as applicable to the
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present time, the references which are
frequently made to the period at which
the author wrote. It would be a satis-
faction to the author, to have it in his
power to continue the narration down to
the present date, and to conclude with an
accurate account of the school as it now
exists; but the engrossing nature of his
avocations renders this impossible; and
he will be under the necessity of content-
ing himself with some brief notices in the
way of notes or appendix in relation to
points in which the most interesting
changes have occurred.
PHILADELPHIA, Dec. 20th, 1833.
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EARLY HISTORY

OF THE

UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA,

CHAPTER L ‘

EARLY EDUCATION IN PHILADELPHIA.—ESTAB-
LISHMENT OF THE ACADEMY.—INCORPORA-
TION OF THE COLLEGE.

IN newly-settled countries, the necessity
of providing for present subsistence, and
the desire of securing those comforts
which previous habit has rendered indis-
pensable to the enjoyment of life, are apt
to divert the attention from objects of less
immediate interest. The settlers, while
contending with the physical difficulties
of their new situation, have little regard
for the intellectual wants of their off-
spring ; and forgetting, or imperfectly ap-
preciating the advantages they had them-

I



2 EARLY HISTORY OF THE

selves enjoyed in early life, think that
they perform all the duty of parents, by
procuring for their children an exemption
from those inconveniences, which they
have learned to regard as the greatest
evils. Education, therefore, is more or
less neglected; and it not unfrequently
happens, that the community, contrary to
the usual course of events, falls back, for
the first generation, towards a state of ig-
norance, instead of advancing in knowl-
edge and civilization. This remark ap-
plies, to a certain extent, to the early
period of our own history. Though a
few individuals, born and educated in the
colonies, were elevated into distinction by
the force of native talent, yet the great
majority of those who were remarkable
for literary attainments, had either emi-
grated from the mother country, or had
received their education in her schools.
The first colonists of Pennsylvania were,
perhaps, less negligent, in providing the
means of elementary instruction, than
those of most of the other settlements.
In the year 1689, only seven years after
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the foundation of Philadelphia, a public
school was established in this city, by
members of the Society of Friends, which
was incorporated in 1697, and, after under-
going various changes in its organization,
received, in 1711, a final charter from Wil-
liam Penn. Fifteen “ discreet and religious
persons, of the people called Quakers,”
were constituted a Board of Overseers,
and were vested with all the property and
privileges of the corporation, together with
the right of supplying vacancies in their
own numbers. George Keith, a native of
Aberdeen, a man of learning, and famous
in the history of the Friends, was the first
teacher employed. In the school were
taught the Latin language, the Mathe-
matics, and the rudiments of an English
education. Though supported by funds
derived from the Society of Friends, and
under the exclusive direction of members
of that society, it was open indiscrimi-
nately to individuals of all religious de-
nominations; and, for more than sixty
years, continued to be the only public
place of instruction in the Province.
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But, before the end of this period, the
school had become entirely inadequate to
the demand of a rapidly increasing popu-
lation; and, though private schools were
not wanting, still the means even of ele-
mentary education were very deficient.*
In the higher branches of knowledge, in-
struction was accessible only to the sons
of the wealthy, who were able to support
the expense of a residence abroad, either
in the mother country, or in one of the
older colonies of New England. There
was, therefore, an urgent demand for a
seminary, founded upon liberal principles
and embracing within its plan all those
subjects of study, which are necessary to
qualify the youth of a growing and pros-
perous community for the performance of
the various duties of public and private
life.

* It appears from an extract from the Journal of the
Council, given by Proud, in his « History of Pennsyl-
vania,” that a school was opened in Philadelphia, so
early as the year 1683, by Enoch Flower, a native of
Wiltshire, who taught reading, writing, and casting
accounts for eight shillings a quarter.
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A want so obvious could not escape the
penetration of our great Franklin; and,
with his active and patriotic spirit, to be
convinced of any public deficiency, was at -
once to use every exertion for its supply.
His attention was accordingly directed, at
a very early period, to the means of ex-
tending the benefits of education in the
city and Province; and, in the year 1743,
he drew up the plan of an academy, which
he communicated to the Rev. Richard
Peters, with the hope, that, as this gentle-
man was then out of employ, he might be
induced to take upon himself the superin-
tendence of such an establishment. Fail-
ing, however, in obtaining the desired co-
operation, and occupied with other public
affairs, which appeared to be of more pres-
sing importance, he dropped the scheme
for the time; and the war which soon
afterwards broke out between Great Britain
and France, the effects of which were
extended to the colonies, prevented its
renewal for several years. Upon the con-
clusion of the peace of Aix-la-Chapelle,

and the consequent restoration of tran-
%
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quillity in the provinces, his thoughts re-
verted to the subject; and, in the year
1749, he entered with zeal upon such meas-
ures as he supposed would most promote
the success of the project. As the first
step, he endeavoured to interest in his
favour several friends; of whom Thomas
Hopkinson, Tench Francis, and the Rev.
Richard Peters seem to have been the
most active and efficient. Having secured
their approbation and assistance, he next
proceeded to write and publish a pamphlet,
entitled “ Proposals relative to the Educa-
tion of Youth in Pennsylvania,” which he
took care to circulate extensively among
the most respectable inhabitants of the
city. The proposals attracted much atten-
tion, and several of the most influential
citizens, to the number of twenty-four,
having met together, determined to asso-
ciate themselves into a Board of Trustees,
for the purpose of carrying the design into
effect.* Their first object was to establish

#* Among the names of those gentlemen are many
which are still well known and highly esteemed in
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certain regulations for their own govern-
ment. It was determined that they should
not “for any services by them as trustees
performed, claim or receive any reward or
compensation.” It was also determined
that the original number of twenty-four
should “always be continued, but never
exceeded upon any motive whatsoever;”
and that vacancies should be supplied by
the choice of the board from among the
inhabitants of Philadelphia, or persons
residing in its immediate neighbourhood.
These rules were established as funda-
mental, and declared to be unalterable:
others were also drawn up, adapted to the
object in view, but alterable at the pleasure

Philadelphia. They were James Logan, Thomas Law-
rence, William Allen, John Inglis, Tench Francis,
William Masters, Lloyd Zackary, Samuel McCall, Jr.,
Joseph Turner, Benjamin Franklin, Thomas Leech,
William Shippen, Robert Strettell, Philip Syng, Charles
Willing, Phineas Bond, Richard Peters, Abraham
Taylor, Thomas Bond, Thomas Hopkinson, William
Plumsted, Joshua Maddox, Thomas White, and William
Coleman. Benjamin Franklin was chosen president,
and William Coleman treasurer, of the board.
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of the board. They were signed by the
trustees on the 13th of November, 1749.
Having thus constituted themselves
governors of the proposed institution,
they proceeded to provide funds for its
establishment; and on the day following
that of the signature, very liberally sub-
scribed among themselves a sum exceed-
ing two thousand pounds, to be raised in
five yearly payments, “declaring it to be
for the encouragement of their useful,
good, and charitable undertaking; and to
enable themselves and their successors to
begin, promote, continue, and enlarge the
same, humbly hoping, through the favour
of Almighty God, and the bounty and
patronage of pious and well-disposed per-
sons, that it might be of great and lasting
benefit to the present and future rising
generations.” To the amount thus con-
tributed, very considerable additions were
afterwards made by subscriptions among
the citizens, by gifts and legacies from
charitable individuals, and by various
other means which will be noticed more
particularly hereafter. But as these funds






JAMES LOGAN.
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were not immediately available, it was
necessary, in the commencement, to have
recourse to a loan; and the trustees ac-
cordingly borrowed eight hundred pounds,
on their own joint bond.

The next object was to procure a suit-
able building; and in this they were re-
markably fortunate* The celebrated
Whitefield had arrived in America a few
years before this period. Though excluded
from the churches of Philadelphia, and
compelled to preach in the fields, such was
the power of his eloquence, that immense
crowds were collected to hear him, and a
fervour of religious feeling was excited in
the community, of which the annals of the
country had afforded no previous example.

* I find it mentioned on the minutes of the Board of
Trustees, that a lot of ground in Sixth Street was offered
to them by James Logan, upon which to erect an acad-
emy, *provided it should be built within the term of 14
years.” The offer was declined, as * tke new building
was, in all respects, better suited to their present circum-
stances and future views.” The trustees, however, ex-
pressed ‘““a most grateful sense of his regard to the
academy,” and returned him ¢ their sincere thanks for
his kind and generous offer.”
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In this state of the public mind, it was pro-
posed to erect an edifice, which might
serve the double purpose of a charity
school, and a place of public worship for
Whitefield, and other ministers of the gos-
pel, similarly circumstanced. Little diffi-
culty was experienced in obtaining adequate
subscriptions; a lot was procured in Fourth,
near the corner of Mulberry Street; and a
large building was speedily raised, which
is still standing, and well known to Phila-
delphians by the name of tke Academy.*
At that time, however, it was called zke
New Building, and as people of almost
every religious denomination had been
concerned in its erection, it was vested in
trustees selected from different sects,
among whom were Whitefield and Frank-
lin. But the lot having been purchased on
ground rent, and money having been bor-
rowed for the completion of the building,

* It may be proper to state, that one-half of this build-
ing has been recently removed, and a church erected
on its site by a Society of Methodists.—December, 1833.

The church has since been removed.—Note fo the
present edition.
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the trustees, after the expiration of a few
years, found themselves involved in an in-
creasing debt, which the subsidence of the
*original enthusiasm left them without the
means of discharging. Things were in
this condition, when the project of an
academy was announced. It was thought
that the objects of both establishments
might be attained by a combination of their
resources ; and as Franklin was a member
of each body of trustees, an agreement
was effected, by his agency, satisfactory to
both parties. A conveyance of the new
building was made to the trustees of the
Academy, on the conditions, that the debt,
now amounting to nearly eight hundred
pounds, should be discharged ; that a free
school should' be maintained on the prem-
ises; and that in the house already built,
or in one to be built for the purpose, a
place of worship should be set apart for
the occasional use of such ministers of the
gospel as the trustees might judge qualified
to “teach theword of God;” andespecially, -
that its free and uninterrupted use should
be permitted to the Rev. Mr. George
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Whitefield, “ whenever he should happen
to be in the city, and desire to preach
therein.”* These conditions have been
complied with; and to this day a charity
school has been maintained, and a room
kept open in the building, for the conven-
ience of itinerant preachers. This trans-
action took place in December, 1749 ; but,
as many alterations were to be made in
the edifice to fit it for the new purposes to
which it was to be applied, and the trustees
were desirous of carrying their design into
immediate effect, it became necessary to
procure temporary accommodations; and

* Mr. Thompson Westcott, in his ¢ Historic Man-
sions of Philadelphia,” says thatall the original build-
ings occupied by the Academy have been removed,
and that “a hall was built on the rear portion of the
ground, in which a room was dedicated for the use of
ministers of the gospel of religious sects, stipulated for
when the new building was erected to accommodate
Whitefield in 1741. Apartments for the Charity School
were also prepared, and those institutions were until
lately (1877) held upon the old site, so that after one
hundred and thirty-six years a portion of the ground
upon which the Academy was built was still devoted
to its original purposes,—to free education and to free
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the schools were first opened in a private
house* It was not till the commence-
ment of the year 1751, that they were in-
troduced into the new hall; on which
occasion, the usual solemnities were ob-
served, and a sermon was preached by the
Rev. Richard Peters.t

The views of the trustees were at first
wisely directed to the communication of
that elementary knowledge, which is most
essential to the citizens of a rising com-
munity, and the acquisition of which is a
necessary step towards the attainment of

speech on religious topics.” Since Mr. Westcott wrote,
the Charity Schools have been closed, and a number of
free scholarships in the University established in their
stead. While no portion of the original building re-
mains, the University still holds a small interest in the
site of the old Academy.— Note to the present edition.

* In the house of Mr, Allen in Second Street. West-
cott’s « Historic Mansions of Philadelphia.”—Note 0
the present edition.

+ This gentleman, though a clergyman, was employed
in the secular office of provincial secretary. He was a
man of high standing and very considerable influence;
and was the successor of Franklin in the presidency of
the Board of Trustees.

2
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the higher branches. For the present,
therefore, they restricted their establish-
ment within the limits of a simple academy,
deferring a further extension of the scheme,
till the success of their first efforts should
have demonstrated its practicability, and
smoothed the way for its accomplishment.

In the Academy were embraced one
school for the Latin, one for English, and
one for the Mathematics, under the care
of three masters with their assistant
ushers, the principal of whom had the
title of rector. A charity school was also
opened, in which the children of poor citi-
zens were instructed gratis. It is worthy
of observation, that among the teachers
originally employed in the Academy was
Charles Thomson, afterwards rendered
conspicuous by his office of secretary to
the Revolutionary Congress, and vener-
able in the recollection of Philadelphians
for his virtues and abilities, as well as for
the advanced age which he attained. He
was, during four years, one of the tutors
in the Latin school, at the end of which
time he left it in pursuit of other business,
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having discharged the duties of his office
with entire satisfaction to his superiors.

Finding the schools to prosper, and to
present a good prospect of permanent
usefulness, the trustees resolved to apply
for a charter, which was readily granted
them by the proprietors. By this instru-
ment, which bears date July 13th, 1753,
they were incorporated by the name of
the “ Trustees of the Academy and Chari-
table School in the Province of Pennsyl-
vania,”

A continuance of prosperity soon in-
duced them to extend their views beyond
the limits within which they had originally
restricted themselves. To the branches
before taught, were now added Logic,
Rhetoric, Natural and Moral Philosophy ;
and it was as a teacher of these sciences
that the Rev. Wm. Smith, who in the future
became highly distinguished, was intro-
duced into the institution.* The study of
the Greek language was joined with that

* For further details concerning Dr. Smith, see sup-
plementary chapter to the present edition.
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of Latin; and, a course of instruction hav-
ing thus been adopted equal in extent to
that usually pursued in the highest semi-
naries, nothing more was requisite to place
the Academy of Philadelphia on the foot-
ing of a collegiate establishment, than the
right of assuming the title, and the privi-
lege of conferring degrees upon the stu-
dents. The hope of obtaining collegiate
honours has always exercised a powerful
influence over the youthful mind; and
every seminary, however extensive may
be its plan, and whatever the qualifications
of the teachers, must labour under great
disadvantages, if destitute of that com-
mand over the diligence of its pupils, with
which the power of giving or withholding
these honours invests it. As the effects
of this deficiency of the Academy began
to be experienced in the desertion of some
of the best students, who sought in other
seminaries that testimonial of their pro-
ficiency which was denied them in their
own, it was recommended by the teachers
to the Board of Trustees, that application
should be made for such additions to their
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charter as might invest them with the
rights of a collegiate body. The applica-
tion was accordingly made; and an addi-
tional charter was granted by the proprie-
tors, dated June 16th, 1755, by which the
former style of the board was changed into
that of “The Trustees of the College,
Academy, and Charitable School of Phila-
delphia,” and all the powers conferred upon
them which are usually attached to such a
title. The condition, however, was annexed
to this charter, that the trustees and pro-
fessors, before entering on the performance
of their offices, should respectively take
and subscribe the customary oaths or affir-
mations of allegiance to the King of Great
Britain.

2%
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CHAPTER IIL

ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNMENT OF THE COL-
LEGE.—FIRST GRADUATES.—PROSPERITY OF
THE COLLEGE.

IT may not be amiss to describe more
particularly the organization and mode of
government of the institution, at this period.
It consisted of three departments, those of
the College, Academy, and Charity Schools,
the last of which, however, was connected
with the two former in no other way than
as it was under the authority of the same
board of trustees. The College and Acad-
emy were much less distinct. They were
not only connected through the medium
of the trustees, but were managed by the
same faculty of professors; and the stu-
dents belonging to the two departments
were often mingled together in the same
classes. The distinction seems to have
been simply this, that those pupils whose
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object was to go through a regular course
of instruction, and ultimately receive the
honour of graduation, were considered as
members of the College; those who at-
tained merely the English and mathemati-
cal schools, without pursuing classical
or philosophical studies, as members of
the Academy; and they were associated
under the same teachers only when en-
gaged in those subjects which were com-
mon to all. By this arrangement, while
young men desirous of a liberal education,
either as a preparation for entering upon
one of the learned professions, or simply
as an accomplishment, were provided with
the means of attaining it, others, of hum-
bler views, and with more limited resources,
were enabled to acquire a degree of knowl-
edge suitable to their future prospects. The
planwas well adapted to the condition of the
country at a time when schools, even of
the inferior kind, were scarce, and it was
desirable to effect much at as little expense
as possible. At a subsequent period, how-
ever, this complexity of arrangement oper-
ated to the disadvantage of the higher
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branch of the seminary, both by taking
away that unity of object, which in this, as
well as all other pursuits, is essential to
the greatest success, and by producing on
the public mind an impression, that the
whole institution was calculated rather for
primary instruction than for completing the
education of youth.

In the collegiate department was a
grammar school, in which boys were
taught the rudiments of the learned lan-
guages, previously to their entrance into
the regular classes of the College. Of
these classes there were only three, the
freshman, junior, and senior; and the term
of study was confined to the same number
of years. [Experience has shown that this
period is too short for the attainment of
the requisite knowledge by youth of ordi-
nary abilities and industry; and, in the
competition which afterwards arose among
the numerous colleges of this country, the
arrangement was injurious to the interests
of the school of Philadelphia. But, at first,
no disadvantage was experienced; and,
perhaps, the prospect of a speedy comple-
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tion of the preparatory studies tended to
favour its success at a time, when it was
necessary for young men to commence the
business of life at as early a period as
possible.

The College and Academy were under
the immediate direction of a faculty, com-
posed of the professors, of whom the prin-
cipal had the title of provost, and the
second in authority, that of vice-provost
and rector of the Academy. The profes-
sors, five in number, were assisted, when
necessary, by ushers, who were possessed
of no authority in the government of the
institution. The duties of the faculty were,
to meet occasionally, and inquire into the
condition of the schools, and conduct of
the scholars; to see that the laws were
observed, and the plans of education car-
ried into effect; and, when any deficiency
in the arrangements of the institution was
observable, to propose such regulation for
the sanction of the trustees, as they might
deem likely to be conducive to its pros-
perity.

On the charitable foundation, there were
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two schools, one for boys, and another for
girls, which were taught respectively by a
master and mistress, with occasional assist-
ants. The boys were instructed in read-
ing, writing, and arithmetic; the girls in
reading, writing, and sewing. The schools
were under the immediate care of the
trustees, to whom applications for admit-
tance were to be made. The number of
charity scholars was seldom much short
of one hundred.

The whole property and government of
the institution were, by the charter, vested
in the Board of Trustees, which retained
its original constitution. In conferring the
powers before mentioned upon the faculty
of the College and Academy, the trustees
reserved to themselves the exclusive privi-
leges of making laws ; of appointing all the
officers of the seminary ; of inflicting on
the students the severer punishments of
degradation, suspension, and expulsion;
of conferring the ordinary and honorary
degrees; and, finally, of deciding in all
matters of high importance to the institu-
tion. But in everything which related to
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the students, though, for fear of abuse, they
thus reserved the power in their own hands,
they generally decided according to the re-
commendation of the faculty, whose better
opportunities of forming an accurate judg-
ment entitled them to this deference.*

* The names of the first trustees have been mentioned
in a previous note. The following is a list of those who
were subsequently elected members of the board, up to
the period of its dissolution. They are given in the
order of their election. It will be observed that the
highest station, influence, and talent in the Province,
were secured in the government of the College.

Isaac Norris, Thomas Cadwalader, James Hamilton,
Alexander Stedman, John Mifflin, Benjamin Chew,
Edward Shippen, Jr., William Coxe, Thomas Willing,
Jacob Duché, Jr., Lynford Lardner, Amos Strettell,
Andrew Elliott, John Redman, John Penn, John Law-
rence, John Allen, Isaac Jones, Richard Penn, Samuel
Powell, Thomas Mifflin, William White, James Tilgh-
man, Robert Morris, Francis Hopkinson, George Cly-
mer, Alexander Wilcox, John Cadwalader, and James
Wilson.

It has been mentioned that Dr. Franklin was the first
president of the board. He was succeeded in that
office by the Rev. Richard Peters, who was first elected
in the year 1756, and was annually re elected until the
year 1764, when the state of his health rendering his
absence from the country requisite, his place was sup-
plied by the Hon. James Hamilton, then governor of
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The first commencement of the College
took place on the 17th of May, 1757, when
its honours were conferred on seven young
men who had completed their education
within its walls. The names of these
earliest graduates were Paul Jackson, Jacob
Duché, Francis Hopkinson,* Samuel Ma-
gaw, Hugh Williamson, James Latta, and
John Morgan.

From this period, the institution rose

the Province. Mr. Hamilton having gone to England
during the same year, the Hon. John Penn, who suc-
ceeded him as governor, was appointed to the presidency
of the board. In the year 1771, Mr. Penn left the pro-
vince, and Mr. Hamilton, having returned, was re-
elected. At the time of the dissolution of the board,
the Hon, Richard Penn, who followed Mr. Hamilton as
governor, filled the office of its president.

* With regard to Mr. Hopkinson, the following is an
extract from the minutes of the Board of Trustees, of
May 20th, 1766: “It was resolved, that, as Francis
Hopkinson, Esq., who was the first scholar in this semi-
nary at its opening, and likewise one of the first who
received a degree, was about to embark for England,
and has done honour to the place of his education by his
abilities and good morals, as well as rendered it many
substantial services on all public occasions, the thanks
of this institution ought to be delivered to him, in the
most affectionate and respectful manner.”
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.rapidly in importance. The extent and
liberality of its plan, conjoined with the
excellence of its management, secured it
the patronage of the neighbouring popula-
tion; and it soon acquired a celebrity
which attracted numerous students from
the ~ distant colonies. From Maryland,
Virginia, and the Carolinas, it received
much support; and even in the West In-
dies, many planters preferred it, for the
education of their children, to the schools
of England. Among the individuals who
at various times received its honours, were
many who afterwards attained great dis-
tinction in their professional, literary, or
political career, and thus contributed to
spread and exalt its reputation. Both in
the advantages which it offered, and the
actual support which it received, it was,
perhaps, unrivalled, certainly not surpassed
by any other seminary at that time exist-
ing in the Provinces. Only two years
after the charter was granted, the number
of pupils in the institution amounted to
about three hundred, one-third of whom
were members of the collegiate depart-
3
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ment.* In the year 1763, according to a
statement made by the provost, nearly
four hundred individuals were receiving
their education in the various branches of
the seminary. To appreciate fully the
prosperity to be implied from this exten-
sive support, we must take into considera-
tion the limited population and wealth
of the country at that period, and must
recollect that the colonies had just emerged
from a long and cruel war, which had
ravaged their borders, exhausted their re-
sources, and even threatened the subver-
sion of their liberties.

The students who came from a distance
were, at first, on the same footing with
those who resided permanently in the city.
Boarding separately, wherever their own
inclination, or that of their friends might
prompt, they attended the schools during

* In a list of the pupils in the English school, made
in the commencement of the year 1757, I observed the
name of Lindley Murray ; in all probability the same
with that Lindley Murray who has acquired so much
fame as the author of the best English Grammar, and
who recently died in England.
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the regular hours, but, in the intervals, had
the complete control of their own time and
conduct. Inconveniences were thought to
arise from this arrangement, which led to
the proposition, that a house should be
built in the vicinity of the college, suffi-
ciently large for the accommodation of the
students from other provinces and the
West Indies, where they might be more
immediately beneath the eye of the pro-
fessors, more convenient to the schools,
and, at the same time, boarded at less ex-
pense than in private families. The trustees,
to enable themselves to effect this purpose,
without encroaching upon their capital,
which was then very small, issued proposals
for a lottery; by which, as the contem-
plated measure was generally approved,
they succeeded, in a short time, in raising
a sum exceeding two thousand pounds.
This was immediately applied to the pro-
posed object; and, in the year 1762, a
suitable building was erected on a lot of
ground belonging to the trustees, on the
north side of the college, where it still
stands. The lower story was appropriated
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to the charity schools, the remainder of
the house to the reception of students, who
were placed under the care of a steward,*
and were subjected to such rules as were
deemed necessary to maintain order, and
promote their health, comfort, and morals.
This plan, though not attended with all
those advantages which had been antici-
pated, had been carried into effect at too
great an expense of money and trouble to
be hastily abandoned; and it appears to
have been continued, till the operations of
the College were suspended during the
war of the revolution.

* Mr. Kinnersley, one of the professors, performed
for many years the duties of steward.
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CHAPTER IIIL
PROVOST AND PROFESSORS OF THE COLLEGE.

As the success of the institution was
attributable more to the diligence and
abilities of the professors, than, perhaps,
to any other cause, we should be doing
injustice to their deserts, as well as pre-
senting a very incomplete view of the
school itself, were we to pass over, with-
out particular notice, the most prominent
among the gentlemen who filled the col-
legiate chairs.

- The first provost, the Rev. Dr. William
Smith, was eminent for his various learn-
ing and general ability. Many yet living
can bear witness to his eloquence as a
preacher; and his published works ex-
hibit, in a very favourable light, his powers
of composition. Born and educated in
Great Britain, he emigrated to this coun-
3*
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try about the commencement of the year
1754, and, soon after his arrival, was em-
ployed in the Academy to teach those
higher branches, which were at that time
introduced into its course of studies. In
the performance of this duty, he acquitted
himself so well, and, in other respects, gave
so much satisfaction to the trustees, that,
when the institution assumed the form of
a college, he was unanimously chosen to
fill the office of provost. Thus placed at
the head of the seminary, he not only em-
ployed in its support the talents for teach-
ing with which he was eminently endowed,
but also exerted himself, with much zeal
and success, in enlarging its pecuniary re-
sources. Though, for a time, rendered
unpopular with the predominant party, by
interfering in those contentions between
the legislature and the governors which
formed the principal feature in the local
politics of the Province, he was yet en-
abled by his talents to command the re-
spect of the public; and in Great Britain,
such was the esteem in which he was held
that, on a visit he was induced to make to
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that country, in the year 1759, to escape
the resentment of the Pennsylvania Legis-
lature, he was received into the highest
society, and, at the recommendation of the
Archbishop of Canterbury and several of
the principal bishops, was honoured, by
the University of Oxford, with the degree
of Doctor of Divinity.* The circumstance
which exposed him to the ill-will of a nu-
merous party at home, secured him the
favour of the proprietors and their friends ;
and by the influence which he possessed
in England, he was enabled, at a subse-
quent period, very materially to promote
the interests of the College. His exer-
tions in its favour were indeed such as
frequently called forth the decided ap-
probation of the trustees; and, though
absent on several occasions, and at one
time put under arrest by the legislature,
his talents and influence were thought so
essential to the prosperity of the school,

* At a subsequent period the same honour was con-
ferred on him by the Universities of Aberdeen and
Dublin,
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that he was always maintained in his sta-
tion, and teachers, when necessary, were
temporarily employed to supply his place.
On the occasion of his arrest, the classes
under his care were directed to attend him
at his place of confinement. As the events
of Dr. Smith’s life are intimately connected
with the history of the institution over
which he presided, we shall have more
than one opportunity of again alluding to
them, in the details which follow.

The office of vice-provost and rector of
the Academy was occupied by the Rev.
Dr. Francis Allison. This gentleman had
been long engaged in the business of in-
struction, and was among the first who
established regular schools in the Province.
That he must have acquired considerable
eminence as a teacher, is evinced by the
fact, that, at a time when honorary degrees
were in much higher esteem than at pres-
ent, that of Doctor of Divinity was spon-
taneously conferred upon him by the Uni-
versity of Glasgow. Before his election to
the vice-provostship, he had for several
years been attached to the Academy as
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rector, and master of the Latin school.*
As in the case of Dr. Smith, his election
was unanimous; and the names of both
these gentlemen, with their respective titles,
were, by direction of the trustees, inserted
in the charter of the College. Their duties,
as professors, were to preside over the
philosophical studies of the different classes,
and Dr. Allison assisted also in teaching
the languages. For more than twenty
years they were the main supports of the
institution, with which they remained con-
nected up to the period of that change in
its affairs which was brought about during
the troubles of the revolution.

Of the other members of the faculty, the
Rev. Ebenezer Kinnersley, professor of
English and oratory, was perhaps the most
conspicuous. Having been associated with
Franklin in the prosecution of his investi-
gations into the subject of electricity, he

* The first rector of the Academy was a Mr. Martin,
who died very suddenly, soon after his appointment,
and was succeeded by Dr. Allison, who then resided in
Chester County, and was invited by the trustees to fill
the vacant place.
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acquired a taste for that science, which in-
duced him to procure a set of apparatus,
calculated to exhibit an exemplification of
its newly discovered principles, by varied
and pleasing experiments. Thus provided,
and at the time engaged in no other em-
ployment, he was prevailed on by Franklin
to exhibit these experiments publicly, and
to accompany them with explanatory lec-
tures; the first, probably, which were de-
livered on a scientific subject in Philadel-
phia. The plan succeeded so much to his
satisfaction, that he made a journey through
the most of the colonies, delivering his lec-
tures in the capital towns, and even visited
the West Indies on the same errand. In
an article of the American Magazine for
October, 1758, written, there is every rea-
son to believe, by Dr. Smith, it is stated,
that Mr. Kinnersley was *“ the chief inven-
tor of the electrical apparatus, as well as
author of a considerable part of those dis-
coveries in electricity published by Mr.
Franklin, to whom he communicated them.
Indeed,” the author of the paper goes on
to say, “ Mr. Franklin himself mentions his
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name with honour, though he has not been
careful enough to distinguish between their
particular discoveries. This, perhaps, he
may have thought needless, as they were
known toact in concert. But though that
circumstance was known here, it was not
so in the remote parts of the world to
which the fame of these discoveries has
extended.” Coming, as this account prob-
ably does, from one so closely associated
with the subject of it as the provost of the
College must have been with one of the
professors, it may be received as the state-
ment of Mr. Kinnersley himself. It must,
however, be confessed, that Franklin, in
his Memoirs, has admitted no claim of this
or any other person to a participation in
the discoveries which he made and an-
nounced ; but merely states that he resorted
to the assistance of Mr. Kinnersley, as a
neighbour and man of leisure, in the per-
formance of his experiments. The electri-
cal apparatus collected by Mr. Kinnersley
must have been extensive; for, after his
death, it was purchased by the trustees of
the college, according to a valuation made
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by impartial and well qualified judges, for
the sum of five hundred pounds.* Mr.
Kinnersley was introduced into the institu-
tion in the year 1753, as the successor of
David James Dove, who was the first
teacher of the English school. In 1772,
the state of his health rendering a voyage
to a warm climate advisable, he resigned
his station, after having performed his
duties for the space of nineteen years.

The professorship of the languages was
originally filled by Paul Jackson, who, in
the year 1758, left the institution on account
of ill health, and was succeeded by John
Beveridge. This gentleman had, when
young, taught a grammar school in Edin-
burgh, under the patronage of the cele-
brated Ruddiman, from whom, as well as
from other men of note, he brought with
him to this country strong testimonials both
of his ability and good conduct. When in-
vited to connect himself with the Philadel-

* It is proper to state that this estimate was made
during the revolution, at a period when the legal cur-
rency had very much depreciated.
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phia College, he was residing at Hartford,
in Connecticut, where he had for some time
been conducting a private Latin school
with great success. As a classical scholar
he was thought to be inferior to none in
the colonies. Some of his compositions
in Latin are still extant in our older maga-
zines, and evince a familiarity with that
language, which, with his long habit of
teaching, must have well qualified him for
his station in the College. Upon his death
in 1767, James Davidson, who had pre-
viously kept a school in Newark, was ap-
pointed to the professorship.

Of the earliest mathematical professor,
very little seems to be known. His name
was Theophilus Grew, and it would appear,
from a slight notice contained in an article
of the American Magazine before alluded
to, that he had “long been an approved
teacher of mathematics and astronomy” in
Philadelphia.* He was attached to the in-

* In 1751 he calculated the Barbadoes Almanac for
1752, which was published by Franklin, and in 1753
wrote ¢ The Description and Use of the Globes, Ce-
lestial and Terrestrial, etc. Chiefly Designed for the

4
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stitution at its origin, and continued so till
his death in 1759. Hugh Williamson, a
graduate of the school, succeeded to his
station.*

This brief account of the early professors.
will not be thought misplaced by those
who feel an interest in the spread of learn-
ing, science, and the arts of civilization in
a young country, and are willing to do
justice to those who made the promotion
of this object the business of their lives.

Instruction of the Young Gentlemen at the Academy
in Philadelphia, etc. Printed by Christopher Sower.”
—Note to the present edition.

* The subsequent career of Hugh Williamson is so
well known that it is only necessary to say that he was
the same individual who represented North Carolina
in the Federal Convention of 1787.—Note to the present
edition.
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CHAPTER 1V.
ORIGIN OF THE MEDICAL DEPARTMENT.

TroucH the College of Philadelphia was
later in its origin than some similar insti-
tutions in the older settlements, it may
nevertheless boast the honour of having
established a medical school, the first in
point of time, as it has always been the
greatest in merit and success of all upon
this continent. It does not come within
the design of the present sketch, to give
even a very general account of the rise,
progress, and ultimate prosperity of this
department of the College, which of itself
affords a subject so distinct and copious,
as well to deserve a separate and minute
consideration.* We may, however, be

* It is scarcely necessary to say, that this want has
been recently supplied by a History of the Medical
Department of the University, written with great fulness
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allowed to notice a few circumstances,
connected with the earliest period of its
history.* :

of detail, and all the pains-taking accuracy characteristic
of its author, Jos. Carson, M.D., now Professor of Materia
Medica and Pharmacy in the University.—Note to the
edition of 1872.

* The following extract of a letter from James Logan
to Colonel Hunter, Governor of New York, dated 5th
month 1st, 1717-18, contains the earliest account we
have seen of a proposition to deliver medical lectures
in Philadelphia. The individual referred to was Dr.
Colden.

“All T know of that bill is only this. He came to
me one day, to desire my opinion of a proposal to get
an Act of Assembly for an allowance to him as physician
for the poor of this place. I told him I thought very
well of the thing, but doubted whether it could be
brought to bear in the House. Not long after, R. Hill
showed me a bill for this purpose, put into his hands by
the governor, with two farther provisions in it, which
were, that a public physical lecture should be held in
Philadelphia, to the support of which every unmarried
man, above the age of twenty-one years, should pay six
shillings and eight-pence or an English crown yearly,
and that the corpses of all persons whatever that died
here, should be visited by an appointed physician, who
should receive for his trouble three shillings and four-
pence. These things I owned were very commendable,
but doubted our Assembly would never go into them,
that of the lecture especially.”
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By a letter from Dr. William Shippen
to the Board of Trustees, written in Sep-
tember, 1765, it appears that the institution
of a medical school in this city had long
been a favourite object with him, and that
in an introductory lecture to a course of
anatomy, delivered three years previously
to the date of the letter, he had publicly
announced his belief in the expediency and
practicability of the measure. Having,
when in England, communicated his plan
to Dr. John Morgan* who was then
prosecuting his medical studies in that
country, he had resolved to postpone
any attempt to carry it into effect, till
the return of that gentleman should af-
ford an opportunity of securing his co-
operation. In the mean time, however,
Dr. Morgan had interested in favour of
the project several influential individuals
in England; and it was proposed that a
school of medicine should be engrafted
on the Philadelphia College, the pro-

* The gentleman already mentioned among the first
graduates of the College.
4+
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fessors to be appointed, and the degrees
to be conferred, as in the other depart-
ment. Among those who exhibited the
strongest interest in the affair were Mr.
Hamilton and Mr. Peters, former presi-
dents of the board, at that time residing
in Great Britain, and Thomas Penn, the
proprietary of Pennsylvania; from all of
whom Dr. Morgan, on his return to Phila-
delphia, brought letters to the trustees,
strongly advising the adoption of his
plan, and recommending the Doctor him-
self to their choice, as one of the pro-
fessors.* These letters were presented to

* The following is the letter from Mr. Penn, extracted
from the minutes of the Board of Trustees.

¢ Dr. Morgan has laid before me a proposal for intro-
ducing new professorships into the College, for the in-
struction of all such as shall incline to go into the study
and practice of physic and surgery, as well as the several
occupations attending upon these necessary and useful
arts. Hethinks his scheme, if patronized by the trustees,
will at present give reputation and strength to the insti-
tution, and though it may for some time occasion a small
expense, yet after a little while it will gradually sup-
port itself, and even make considerable additions to the
Academy funds. :

“ Dr. Morgan has employed his time in an assiduous
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the board at a special meeting, accom-
panied with a written proposal from Dr.
Morgan, “setting forth his plan of open-
ing medical schools under the patronage

search after knowledge, in all the branches necessary
for the practice of his profession, and has gained such
esteem and love from persons of the first rank in it,
that as they very much approve his plan, they will from
time to time, as he assures us, give him their counte-
nance and assistance in the execution of it. We are
made acquainted with what is proposed to be taught,
and how lectures may be adopted by you, and since the
like systems have brought much advantage to every
plan where they have been received, and such learned
and eminent men speak favourably of the Doctor’s
plan, I could not but in the most kind manner recom-
mend him to you, and desire that he may be well re-
ceived, and what he has to offer be taken, with all be-
coming respect and expedition, into your most serious
consideration, and if it shall be thought necessary to go
into it, and thereupon to offer professorships, that he
may be taken into your service.

‘“When you have heard him, and duly considered
what he has to lay before you, you will be best able to
judge in what manner you can serve the public, the
institution, and the particular design now recommended
to you.

“] am, gentlemen,
“Your affectionate friend,
. ‘* THOMAS PENN.

“ LoNDON, February 15th, 1765.”
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and government of the College, and inti-
mating his desire to be appointed professor
of the theory and practice of physic.” The
trustees approved the scheme, and, “en-
tertaining a high sense of Dr. Morgan’s
abilities, and the honours paid to him by
different learned bodies and societies in
Europe,” unanimously appointed him to
the office for which he applied. The
date of this event, the 3d of May, 1765,
is deserving of commemoration, as the
birth-day, in America, of that system of
medical education, which has been carried
to such high perfection, and has so power-
fully tended to advance the profession in
knowledge, reputation, and usefulness.

In the following September, Dr. Wm.
Shippen, upon application to the board,
was unanimously chosen professor of an-
atomy and surgery. Dr. Adam Kuhn
was afterwards made professor of botany
and materia medica, and Dr. Benjamin
Rush, of chemistry. This last appoint-
ment was preceded by a letter from the
proprietors to the trustees, written at the
request of Dr. Fothergill, recommending
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Dr. Rush to their notice as an expert
chemist, and requesting their acceptance
of a suitable chemical apparatus. At the
same time that instruction was given to
the students by these gentlemen in their
respective branches, a course of clinical
lectures was delivered by Dr. Thomas
Bond, in the Pennsylvania Hospital.

In the year 1767, a system of rules was
adopted, necessary for the proper organiza-
tion of this new school. Two grades of
medical honours were established, corre-
sponding with those in the department of
the arts and sciences. The qualifications
for the first degree, or that of Bachelor in
Medicine, were a competent acquaintance
with the Latin language, and with those
branches of mathematics and natural phi-
losophy which were deemed necessary pre-
requisites to a good medical education;
the serving of a sufficient apprenticeship
with some reputable practitioner of physic;
a general knowledge of pharmacy; and
finally, an attendance upon at least one
complete course of lectures, and on the
practice of the hospital for one year. To



46 EARLY HISTORY OF THE

obtain the degree of Doctor of Medicine,
it was necessary that the applicant should
have been a Bachelor of Medicine for at
least three years, should have attained the
age of twenty-four, should write a thesis,
and, except in cases of absence abroad, or
in some distant part of the colonies, should
defend this thesis publicly in the College.
It will be perceived that this system differs
materially from that now in operation ; and
. the modern has, in several respects, a de-
cided advantage. Perhaps it would have
been well to preserve that regulation which
demanded a previous knowledge of the
Latin language, the neglect of which is
too common among medical students of
the present day.

The first medical commencement was
held on the 21st of June, 1768, when the
following gentlemen received their bache-
lor’s degree:—John Archer of Newcastle
County, Benjamin Cowell of Bucks, Sam-
uel Duffield and Jonathan Potts of Phila-
delphia, Jonathan Elmer of New Jersey,
Hu;nphrey Fullerton of Lancaster County,
David Jackson of Chester County, John
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Lawrence of East Jersey, James Tilton of
Kent County on Delaware, and Nicholas
Way of Wilmington.

Such was the origin of a school, which,
by the talents and industry of its successive
teachers, has attained a station little inferior
to that of the most celebrated in Europe ;
which has for a long time diffused medical
knowledge, in copious streams, over the
whole of this widely extended country,
and given birth to numerous similar insti-
tutions, emulous of their parent school in
honour and usefulness; which, while" it
affords to its officers a dignity in rank and
an affluence in subsistence beyond any
other private association on the continent,
at the same time imparts to the city in
which it is located, a degree of prosperity
and reputation which the most sanguine of
its founders never ventured to anticipate
from its operations.
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CHAPTER V.
FINANCES OF THE COLLEGE.

Our view of the College would be in-
complete without some account of its
financial concerns. The original fund with
which the trustees ventured on their under-
taking was the sum of two thousand pounds,
payable in five annual instalments, sub-
scribed by the individual members of the
board. To this sum a very considerable
addition was soon made by subscriptions,
on the same terms, obtained among the
_ inhabitants of the city; and the resources
of the institution were afterwards aug-
mented by donations* and legacies, by

* I observed in the minutes of the board, an acknowl-
edgment of the receipt of one hundred pounds from
“a company of comedians,” being the profits of a play
which they had represented for the benefit of the free
school. The collection of so considerable a sum, on
such an occasion, is a singular evidence either of the
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public collections in churches* and at the
commencements, and by the proceeds of
lotteries.t From these various sources, in
the course of twelve years from the first
establishment of the Academy, the amount
derived was not less than seven thousand
pounds sterling; and, if to this be added
the profits of tuition, and benefactions from
the proprietors in money and land, to the
value of at least three thousand pounds,
received during the same period, there will

charity, or of the play-going propensities of those times.
It seems that this mode of increasing their revenue did
not meet with the unanimous approbation of the trus-
tees, for it is stated in the minutes that a majority were
in favour of receiving the donation.

* The sermons of Whitefield were most productive,
One which he preached at the request of the trustees,
for the benefit of the charity schools, and for which they
returned him “their sincere and hearty thanks,” yielded
more than one hundred pounds.

+ Considerable opposition was made to this mode of
raising money; and, at one time,a law was passed pro-
hibiting lotteries altogether: but it was soon afterwards
repealed. Six or seven lotteries were at various times
set on foot for the benefit of the institution; from two
of which, upwards of four thousand pounds, currency,
were collected,

5
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appear to have been no deficiency of funds
for carrying the designs of the founders of
the seminary into full effect. Of the dona-
tions from the proprietors, five hundred
pounds accompanied their grant of the first
charter, and nearly three thousand acres
. of land, situated in Bucks County, being
-the fourth part of the manor of Perkasie,
" were conveyed to the trustees by Thomas
Penn, on the condition that, if the institu-
tion should fail of success, the land should
revert to himself or his heirs. The fee
simple of this land was, at a subsequent
period, vested in the trustees, and the farms
into which it was divided were sold upon
mortgage; but as the conditions of the sale
were not complied with, the greater number
of them have reverted to the institution,
and now constitute a part of the real estate
of the University of Pennsylvania.
Though the resources of the College
were amply sufficient to meet all the im-
mediate demands upon them, and, at the
end of twelve years, a considerable surplus
remained in the hands of the trustees, be-
sides the clear possession of the college
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ground and buildings, yet, as the interest
accruing from this surplus, even with the
addition of the receipts for tuition, would by
no means be adequate to the proper sup-
port of the school, which would, therefore,
still be left dependent upon the precarious
supplies of private contributions and lot-
teries, it was thought advisable to look
about for some means of procuring such a
sum of money, as, when united to that
already possessed, and constituted into a
permanent fund, might yield a fixed and
certain income, adequate to all the wants
of the institution. Too much had already
been contributed by the citizens to justify
an expectation that this object would be
accomplished by a further appeal to their
public spirit; and the legislature of the
Province wanted either the ability or incli-
nation to yield any assistance. The atten-
tion of the trustees was, therefore, directed
abroad; and as Dr. Smith, on his return
from Europe, had reported that many of
the best and most influential personages in
England were favourably disposed to the
institution, it was determined to seek, from
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the liberality of the mother country, those
supplies which were not to be obtained in
the colonies. The numerous and highly
respectable acquaintance which the provost
had formed, and the esteem in which he
was held in Great Britain, naturally desig-
nated him as the most suitable person to
act as the representative of the trustees on
this occasion; and they accordingly re-
quested him to undertake, in that capacity,
another voyage across the Atlantic, prom-
ising the payment of all his expenses, and
the continuance, during his absence, of the
salary attached to the provostship. Dr.
Smith cheerfully complied with the request ;
and, being furnished with the proper writ-
ten power, sailed for England, where he
arrived early in the year 1762. Persons of
very high station and authority became in-
terested in the success of his mission; and
it was recommended, in order that the ap-
plication from the trustees might come
with greater weight, and the charit